Stock identification of Patagonian toothfish: an interdisciplinary approach



SI-2023-T00

Lee B

Fisheries Department Directorate of Natural Resources Falkland Islands Government Stanley, Falkland Islands



17 April 2023

Participating/Contributing Scientific Staff

Lee B

Comments provided by: Arkhipkin A, Randhawa HS, Skeljo F, Winter A

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the FIFD Scientific Fisheries Observers and staff that contributed to data collection. This synthesis was completed by the author in partial fulfilment of a PhD in Fisheries Science at Rhodes University through the Department of Ichthyology and Fisheries Science. I thank the members of the primary author's supervisory team for their input and support: Alexander Arkhipkin, Haseeb Randhawa and Warwick Sauer. We thank the examiners whose feedback improved the quality of this work: Stephen Wing, Steven Cadrin and Julian Ashford. Thanks to the additional co-authors that have contributed to the research projects upon which this report was based, specifically, Frane Skeljo, Paul Brewin, William Brownscombe and Paul Brickle. This study was supported by Consolidated Fisheries Ltd.

© Crown Copyright 2019

No part of this publication may be reproduced without prior permission from the Falkland Islands Government Fisheries Department.

For citation purposes this publication should be referenced as follows:

Lee B (2023) Stock identification of Patagonian toothfish: an interdisciplinary approach. SI-2023_TOO. Fisheries Department, Directorate of Natural Resources, Falkland Islands Government, Stanley, Falkland Islands. 35 pp.

Distribution: Public Domain

Reviewed and approved by:

Dr Andrea Clausen Director of Natural Resources

19/04/23

Date: Day Month Year

Stock identification of Patagonian toothfish *Dissostichus eleginoides* in the southwest Atlantic: an interdisciplinary approach

Executive Summary

The stock structure of Patagonian toothfish in the southwest Atlantic is still poorly understood. On a larger spatial scale, there is well-documented genetic differentiation between toothfish found on the Patagonian Shelf and around South Georgia and South Sandwich Islands. However, toothfish population structure across the Patagonian Shelf is less certain in the context of where it fits into a possible stock structure continuum, extending across possible sympatric discrete, spatially complex (e.g. metapopulation or source-sink) and panmictic population structures.

Separate spawning populations south of Diego Ramirez Islands in Chilean waters and the eastern Burdwood Banks in Falkland Islands waters have been identified; with otolith microchemistry analysis suggesting that larvae settling on the Falkland Shelf originate from a combination of these two spatially distinct areas. Annual spawning migrations have been inferred for Patagonian toothfish from foraging areas on the Patagonian shelf and slope located in the north and east of the Falkland Islands to spawning areas on the Burdwood Bank. However, early satellite-tagging work undertaken in Falkland Islands waters showed high site fidelity and limited movement of adult toothfish, leading to the conclusion that the part of the stock targeted by the longline fishery (primarily older, adult individuals) is most likely confined to Falkland Islands waters.

The aim of this research programme was to provide an improved understanding of the complex stock structure dynamics for Patagonian toothfish in the southwest Atlantic, specifically in relation to the shelf, slope, and deep-sea plains around the Falkland Islands. To achieve this, an integrated approach was used whereby a range of complementary methods were incorporated to improve our understanding of life-history stages identified as potential pathways of population connectivity.

Otolith shape analyses revealed high site fidelity across their distribution, and possible stock separation among early adult fish within localised areas on the Patagonian Shelf. Based on these results limited mixing appeared to occur between southern Chile and Burdwood Bank spawning areas; and feeding grounds off the continental slope and deep-sea plains to the north-east of the Falkland Islands.

Analyses of abundance distributions were undertaken to assess the spatial-temporal persistence (stability) of toothfish nursery area hotspots around the Falkland Islands and to describe their subsequent ontogenetic migration pathways into their adult deep-water habitats. Results indicate spatially discrete hotspots exhibiting high temporal variability. This variability is defined through oceanographic influence that drives larval dispersal and survival on the Shelf. Juvenile toothfish appear to follow persistent ontogenetic migrations, linking distinct recruitment areas with their respective component of the adult population on the Patagonian slope. Evidence of mixing among cohort groups during their ontogenetic migration into deep-sea adult habitats was limited, reflecting a mixed population based on oceanographically defined egg and larval dispersal.

A large-scale tag-recapture programme using conventional and satellite tags was established in June 2016 to improve understanding of the movement patterns of toothfish within the region; and to quantify the exchange between adults on the northern and eastern slope, and the spawning grounds on the Burdwood Bank (and possibly southern Chile). Analyses based on results over the first 6 years of data were used to elucidate the movement patterns as well as the extent that these are driving connectivity during the adult life-history stages of Patagonian toothfish in the region. Tagging and recapture results indicated that the majority of individuals (78%) displayed high site fidelity (<50 km). However, 10% of individuals undertook large-distance movements across oceanographic and physical boundaries. These were characterised by large (>120 cm) fish inhabiting the slope and deep-sea plains (north of 52° S) undertaking southward (direction = $150 - 240^{\circ}$) home-range relocations to spawning areas on the Burdwood Bank, North Scotia Ridge and southern Chile.

Otolith microstructure and trace element analysis were applied to infer time-resolved elemental profiles that reflect the early ontogeny of juvenile Patagonian toothfish from key nursery areas on the Patagonian Shelf. Results revealed significant ontogenetic shifts in elemental profiles across the early life-history of Patagonian toothfish. From these, key biological benchmarks were identified, including (i) the hatch date distribution (mid-September to late October; mean = 3 October); (ii) the dispersal period of pelagic larvae until their entry onto the Patagonian shelf (0 to 50 days post-hatch); (iii) the entry phase from the shelf extent to inshore waters (<100 m depth; 50 to 100 days post-hatch); (iv) settlement into a demersal habitat (109 days post-hatch); and (v) subsequent migration into juvenile nursery areas (<150 m depth; 120 days post-hatch).

Results from a recent genetic study suggests two independent evolutionary lineages within the '*D. eleginoides*' complex and their differentiation into two distinct taxonomic entities as separate species based on genomic and morphometric data. Results also implied a complex level of restricted connectivity between local populations of Patagonian toothfish, specifically between fish captured from (1) southern Chile and the Falkland Islands; and (2) Falkland Islands and the high seas (North of Falkland Islands), illustrating the Falkland Islands as an intermediate zone of mixing.

This long-term research programme investigating the stock structure of Patagonian toothfish on the Patagonian Shelf revealed complex patterns. Research results indicate high levels of uncertainty in terms of understanding the extent of connectivity during the early life-history phases of egg and larval dispersal. Further, evidence of connectivity across the region through the active migration of adults appears to occur on a relatively small scale. Current results demonstrate that the stock structure arising from the retention of mixed contingents across the Falklands Shelf remains discrete (within the Falkland Islands Conservation Zone) until adult life-history stages. Based on these findings a range of management measures were provided:

- 1. The maintenance of current management measures concerning (1) the prohibition of trawling, and (2) restrictions on longline-based commercial fisheries during spawning from June to August on the Burdwood Bank.
- 2. Revise the 'move-on' rule to ensure the protection of shelf-based newly recruited toothfish on a proactive basis.
- 3. Based on remaining uncertainty, a 'status quo' management approach should be following with the assumption that there is one discrete toothfish stock present in Falkland Islands waters.
- 4. Continue to build on data sharing and research collaborations with regional partners, specifically Chile, Argentina and the high seas fishing fleet (South Korea).
- 5. The continued investment in stock structure research to ensure a sustainably managed Patagonian toothfish fishery.

- 6. Maintain and build fisheries-independent research surveys for (1) the monitoring of nursery areas, (2) the monitoring of deep-sea ontogenetic migratory transition zones (3) their expansion to encompass a seasonal component and (4) increase alignment among the two survey data collection protocols.
- 7. The incorporation of routinely collected environmental data (CTD) into open access global satellite monitoring programmes (e.g. EU Copernicus Environmental Monitoring Service).
- 8. Maintaining the tag-recapture programme objectives, specifically for the continued tagging of ~1000 toothfish per year within the Falkland Islands Conservation Zones for meeting stock assessment and stock structure research objectives.

Contents

Executive	e Summary	. 1			
1. Intro	duction	. 5			
1.1.	The importance of understanding stock structure	. 5			
1.2.	Study area: The Patagonian Shelf	. 6			
1.3.	Study species: Patagonian toothfish	.7			
1.4.	Management approach	.7			
1.5.	Basis of current management units	. 8			
1.5.1	. The Antarctic Polar Front as a population boundary	. 8			
1.5.2	2. The South American Continental Shelf	. 8			
1.6.	Aims and objectives	. 9			
2. Rese	earch programme findings	11			
2.1.	Connectivity of Patagonian toothfish across their life-history	12			
2.1.1	. Genetic units	12			
2.1.2	2. Spawning	13			
2.1.3	B. Egg and larval dispersal and retention	14			
2.1.4	I. Demersal juveniles and sub-adults	16			
2.1.5	5. Adults	18			
2.2.	Stock structure: Spatially complex population	19			
3. Application of findings					
3.1.	Management approaches	22			
3.1.1	. Status quo management	22			
3.1.2	2. 'Weakest link' management	22			
3.1.3	3. Spatial and temporal closures	23			
3.1.4	Integration of stock composition into management	23			
3.1.5	5. Alteration of stock boundaries	24			
3.2.	Management recommendations	24			
3.2.1	. Maintain and revise current management measures	24			
3.2.2	2. Stock assessment	24			
3.2.3	B. Collaborations	25			
3.2.4	Research priorities	25			
3.2.5	5. Data collection and monitoring	26			
3.3.	Conclusion	28			
Referenc	es	29			

1. Introduction

1.1. The importance of understanding stock structure

The 'stock' concept as a population unit in fisheries science forms the basis of assessment and management (Baranov 1918, Russell 1931). The 'unit stock' of a fish population refers to a reproductively isolated group of organisms whose demographic and genetic trajectory is largely independent from other such groups of the same species (Waples 1998). An independent genetic trajectory implies that young fish in the population are entirely spawned from adults in the same population. This isolation is expected to be reflected in demographic independence of stock, recruitment, mortality, and age composition, reflecting the population parameters that are estimated by stock assessment models (Cadrin 2020).

A thorough understanding of population structure is therefore crucial when delineating stock boundaries for assessing stock status, informing the development and implementation of relevant management measures. Almost all fish populations have some spatial structure and mixing patterns, falling along a continuum across broadly defined (1) sympatric discrete (2) spatially complex and (3) panmictic population categories (Cope & Punt 2011, Ciannelli et al. 2013, Brophy et al. 2016, Kerr et al. 2020). A sympatric discrete population refers to reproductively and genetically isolated populations, which may occupy overlapping habitats, at least during one phase of their life cycle. On the opposite end of the scale, a panmictic population refers to interbreeding individuals that are heterogeneously distributed over space. A spatially complex population consists of contingents (sub-populations) that exhibit a degree of independence in local population dynamics containing variable connectivity among them (Hawkins et al. 2016, Cadrin et al. 2020). Such a structure includes both (classical) metapopulations, and source-sink populations (Sinclair & Iles 1989). In the case of a classical metapopulation, these consist of similar, discrete locally breeding subpopulations or contingents which are genetically connected via relatively rare dispersal events (Fronhofer et al. 2012, Hawkins et al. 2016). A source-sink population structure is characterised by 'donor' groups contributing to 'receptor' components that, while able to survive and grow successfully, become non-breeding vagrants with limited ability to reconnect with the source (Fronhofer et al. 2012. Hawkins et al. 2016). Receptor groups in a source-sink metapopulation structure commonly stem from poor habitat quality (Hawkins et al. 2016), driven by spatial (e.g. dispersal beyond the distributional areas of the population) and energetic (e.g. predation, disease, and starvation) processes (Sinclair & Iles 1989).

Stock boundaries are, however, often an oversimplification of complex populations and do not always accurately represent biological population structure (Zemeckis et al. 2014, Kerr et al. 2017, Berger et al. 2021). Complexities in stock structure that are not accounted for may have important implications for stock assessments and fisheries management arrangements (Cope & Punt 2011, Zemeckis et al. 2014, Kerr et al. 2020, Moore et al. 2020). For example, what is assumed as a single closed stock within a defined management area may reflect multiple individual stocks (Smedbol & Stephenson 2001, Clausen et al. 2007). This is of particular importance when different contingents, fished as a single stock, possess varying levels of productivity (Dickey-Collas et al. 2010, Ying et al. 2011). The implementation of conservative population parameters can then lead to the under-fishing of contingents with high productivity, or over-fishing of less productive contingents should less conservative population parameters be assumed (Tuck & Possingham 1994, Begg et al. 1999, Kerr et al. 2017). Political boundaries cut across the distributions of many species, creating shared stocks between nations (Abrantes et al. 2020), and management units containing only a portion of a larger stock can also produce misleading results for stock assessments (Begg et al. 1999, Gullestad & Sundby 2020). For example, climate-driven changes in species distributions can result in changes in the proportion of a catch in an area, leading to incorrect estimations of abundance

(Hutchings 1996). Further, in the situation where stocks are undergoing rebuilding from past over-harvesting, differential restoration between unidentified stock components can lead to an inability to anticipate future recruitment to these stocks (Begg et al. 1999, Dickey-Collas et al. 2010). Inappropriate assumptions of stock structure may also have implications for resilience and model-based investigations of the effects of climate change on their distribution and abundance (Ciannelli et al. 2013). The maintenance of diversity within a structured population provides an important stabilising (portfolio) effect, conferring resilience and maintaining productivity, not just on the species alone, but across associated ecosystems (Hilborn et al. 2003, Schindler et al. 2010).

The inclusion of spatial structure in stock assessment models themselves is extremely data intensive (Cope & Punt 2011, Mormede et al. 2020). Stock identification methods are therefore frequently used to assist in identifying self-sustaining components within natural populations (Cadrin 2020), prior to conducting stock assessments, with a concomitant resolve to increase data provisions at the scale of management needs (Cope & Punt 2011, Janßen et al. 2018). Stock identification methods are therefore considered as essential partners to stock assessment (Zemeckis et al. 2014). However, the most practiced implementation of stock identification results are through alternate management measures (Kerr et al. 2017).

1.2. Study area: The Patagonian Shelf

This research programme was implemented across the Patagonian Shelf, with a specific focus on the shelf, slope and deep-sea plains around the Falkland Islands in the southwest Atlantic (Figure 1). In the southwest Atlantic, the Patagonian Shelf (0 to 200 m) extends along the southern portion of the continental shelf of eastern South America, from the tip of Tierra del Fuego (\sim 55°S), northwards around the Falkland Islands. To the south of the Falkland Islands lies the Burdwood Bank (Matano et al. 2019), a shallow (50 to 200 m) underwater plateau that is separated from the Patagonian Shelf by a narrow (80 km, 400 m deep) channel to the west, extending through a deep trough (>2500 m) to the east where it aligns with the North Scotia Ridge.

The main oceanographic feature of the Patagonian Shelf is the Falkland Current, a northflowing branch of the Antarctic Polar Front (APF), following the continental shelf-break to the west of the Burdwood Bank and along the southern and east extent of the Falkland Islands (Croxall & Wood 2002, Arkhipkin et al. 2013). South of the Falkland Islands, the weaker Patagonian Current diverges to the west, extending northward (Ulibarrena & Conzonno 2015). A second north-flowing extension of the APF, the Subantarctic Front (SAF) wraps around the eastern extent of the Burdwood Bank, flowing northward where it eventually converges with the Falkland Current and Patagonian Current at 50°S (Ashford et al. 2012, Matano et al. 2019). Oceanographic data indicate that this current is dynamic and shifting with irregular mesoscale eddies occasionally observed breaking through the main current stream along the northern edge of the Burdwood Bank, and linking up with the Falklands Current to the south of the Falkland Islands around Beauchene Island (Song et al. 2016, Fraser et al. 2017).

The Patagonian Shelf and Slope are among the most productive areas in the southwest Atlantic. High densities of macroplanktonic euphausiid and hyperiid amphipods occur in frontal zones around the Falkland Islands, attracting and sustaining important fish and squid resources (Agnew 2002, Arkhipkin et al. 2013), taken by multinational fishing fleets operating in the region.



Figure 1: Map of the study area identifying the main oceanographic and physical features: APF: Antarctic Polar Front, BB: Burdwood Bank, NSR: North Scotia Ridge, FI: Falkland Islands, CH: southern Chile.

1.3. Study species: Patagonian toothfish

The Patagonian toothfish *Dissostichus eleginoides* Smitt 1898 (family Nototheniidae) is a large (>200 cm TL, >150 kg weight), benthopelagic predatory fish. They have a wide geographic distribution in the Southern Ocean, occurring across the continental shelf, slope, and deepsea plains of southern Patagonia and Chile; on plateaus surrounding subantarctic islands (e.g. South Georgia, Kerguelen, Heard and McDonald Islands), banks and seamounts (Eastman 1993, Collins et al. 2010). On the Patagonian Shelf, they are broadly distributed in the eastern Pacific as far north as Ecuador, off the narrow Chilean Shelf extending southwards, around Cape Horn, and over the Argentinean and Falklands Shelf in the southwest Atlantic northwards to 30°S. South of the Falkland Islands, they occur over the Burdwood Bank and across the North Scotia Ridge.

1.4. Management approach

On the Patagonian Shelf, outside of CCAMLR waters, the species is managed independently by nations according to international boundaries. The species is also targeted by international fleets on the high seas, outside of national jurisdictions. For example, Korean vessels fishing to the north and northeast of the Falkland Islands, and over the North Scotia Ridge have captured a total of nearly 12,000 tonnes between 2013 and 2019 (Park et al. 2021). Catches over the Patagonian Shelf have followed the global pattern, peaking at over 40 000 tonnes in 1995, prior to the implementation of stringent management measures since 2004. Management advice for Patagonian toothfish in the Argentinean, Chilean and Falkland Islands fisheries are based on statistical catch-at-age models which are used to estimate relative biomass (Henriquez et al. 2016, Skeljo et al. 2022). The Chilean Patagonian toothfish stock is

targeted both by industrial and artisanal longline fisheries (Moreno et al. 2006). The stocks are categorised as overfished, with overfishing occurring (Henriquez et al. 2016). Off Argentina, Patagonian toothfish are predominantly (98%) targeted by a deep-sea trawl fishery. The spawning stock biomass is currently estimated to be at 30.3% of the unfished state, corresponding to their defined precautionary biological reference point. Based on this, the Argentine management authority has maintained a 3700 tonnes TAC, with the stock considered to be in a rebuilding state (Godelman et al. 2021). In the Falkland Islands, both the targeted longline fishery as well as the bycatch components arising through the shelf-based inshore trawl fisheries are accounted for in the modelling framework (Skeljo et al. 2022). A total allowable catch (TAC) is then decided in accordance to a set of harvest control rules. The TAC has been set at 1040 tonnes since 2015, with a spawning stock biomass maintained at between 40 to 45% of the unfished state. The stock stands at an acceptable level of abundance, and is projected to increase under the current fishing pressure (Skeljo et al. 2022). To date, models have assumed that single self-replenishing stocks of Patagonian toothfish occur within political boundaries.

1.5. Basis of current management units

1.5.1. The Antarctic Polar Front as a population boundary

Strong genetic heterogeneity has been shown across the APF using both microsatellite and mitochondrial DNA analyses (Shaw et al. 2004, Rogers et al. 2006, Canales-Aguirre et al. 2018). These results have suggested the APF as a major barrier to larval dispersal with deepwater troughs and distance inhibiting movements of adults. Trace element analysis undertaken from the edge and nucleus of Patagonian toothfish otoliths have indicated a sharp population boundary in the vicinity of the APF, with large-scale variation in trace element concentrations from Patagonian populations in relation to subantarctic Islands to the south (Ashford et al. 2005, 2006). This prior evidence of population isolation across the APF has also been corroborated through heterogeneity in whole otolith δ^{18} O and δ^{13} C isotopes (Ashford & Jones 2007). Further, there is no reported evidence of tagged fish being recaptured after movements across the APF (Williams et al. 2002, Marlow et al. 2003, Agnew et al. 2006, Brown et al. 2013a). Medium-scale movements undertaken by tag-recaptured fish have, however, been reported between the South Sandwich Islands to South Georgia (>740 km; Roberts and Agnew, 2008); and from Heard Island to Kerguelen (>210 km) and Crozet (>1025 km; Williams et al., 2002). This reflects that adult Patagonian toothfish are capable of largescale movements, although these appear to be infrequent. Juvenile Patagonian toothfish are negatively buoyant, however, adults are inferred to become neutrally buoyant at maturity, therefore reducing the energy needed for large-scale movement (Eastman 1993).

1.5.2. The South American Continental Shelf

Microsatellite evidence indicates no significant genetic structuring among populations of the South American continental shelf (Canales-Aguirre et al. 2018). However, genetic markers vary greatly in their ability to resolve the extent to which the population consists of a single or multiple phenotypic or contingent stocks (Beebee & Rowe 2008). Population connectivity may be driven through aspects of their biology including (1) the continuity of the deep-sea habitat in the region enabling the active migration or movement in adults and, (2) dispersal during a protracted egg and larval period (Canales-Aguirre et al. 2018).

Spawning of Patagonian toothfish occurs in discrete areas off southern Chile (Arana 2009), the Burdwood Bank (Laptikhovsky et al. 2006, Boucher 2018), and the western edge of the North Scotia Ridge (Laptikhovsky et al. 2006). Around the Falkland Islands, a self-sustaining population was thought to be maintained through annual spawning migrations from foraging areas on the slope and shelf to the north and east of the Falkland Islands with the spawning

areas on the Burdwood Bank (Laptikhovsky et al. 2006). Connectivity may also occur on a slower scale, driven through their ontogenetic migrations from nursery areas to their deep-sea habitats, onwards to their southern spawning areas. On the Patagonian Shelf and slope, these downslope migrations are thought to occur over a more protracted period compared to other areas of their range that contain narrow shelves (Laptikhovsky et al. 2006). However, more recent research results show that annual spawning migrations are unlikely. Large adults that were monitored over a nine month period using archival satellite pop-up tags showed high site fidelity and limited connectivity (Brown et al. 2013a). Further, otolith microchemistry reflects distinct nucleus and edge signatures among areas sampled around the Falkland Islands and Chilean Shelf, suggesting restricted connectivity and the possibility of more than one South American population (Ashford et al. 2005, 2006). Further, the parasite fauna of juvenile Patagonian toothfish indicated spatial separation between individuals inhabiting areas to the northwest and southeast of the Falklands Shelf (Brown et al. 2013b).

Particle simulations in a wind-driven oceanographic model identified wide dispersal of Patagonian toothfish eggs and larvae, from spawning areas on southern Chile and the Burdwood Bank across the Patagonian Shelf (Ashford et al. 2012). In combination with otolith trace element analyses, models predicted recruitment of juveniles from southern Chile to the northern Patagonian Shelf, and region of mixed recruitment from southern Chile and the Burdwood Bank to the south of the Falkland Islands (Ashford et al. 2012). These results are therefore suggestive of large-scale connectivity driven through early life-history dispersal. The absence of spawning in the northern extent of their range, combined with the prospect of high site fidelity (in the absence of annual spawning migrations) identifies important questions in terms of connectivity and the closure of the adult – spawning - recruitment life cycle. There is growing evidence that the spatial structure and population dynamics of Patagonian toothfish may be more complex than currently assumed.

1.6. Aims and objectives

The aim of this research programme was to provide an improved understanding of the complex stock structure dynamics for Patagonian toothfish in the southwest Atlantic, specifically in relation to the shelf, slope, and deep-sea plains around the Falkland Islands. To achieve this, an integrated approach was used (Izzo et al. 2017, Kerr et al. 2017) whereby a range of complementary methods were incorporated to improve our understanding of life-history stages identified as potential pathways of population connectivity (Figure 2). In particular, we focused on five research approaches.

- Approach 1 Morphometric outlines (Lee et al. 2018): Otolith shapes of Patagonian toothfish (*Dissostichus eleginoides*) and Antarctic toothfish (*D. mawsoni*) were investigated for geographic variability within seven regions across the Patagonian Shelf, and South Georgia and the South Sandwich Islands (SGSSI). The approach was applied to assess connectivity across localised spawning and adult foraging habitats, to provide insights into the stock structure of Patagonian toothfish on the Patagonian Shelf.
- Approach 2 Spatial-temporal patterns of early life-history stages (Lee et al. 2021): Ontogenetic migrations were identified as a life-history stage that could lead to increased connectivity between nursery areas and sub-adult habitats. A series of spatial-temporal models were developed to define the spatial units within which early life-history stages occur in shelf waters around the Falkland Islands. The temporal dynamics of these units in the presence of variable interacting environmental (e.g. temperature, currents), chemical (e.g. salinity, oxygen), physical (e.g. depth), and ecological (e.g. inter- and intraspecific competition) drivers were investigated to improve our understanding of (1) recruitment, (2) nursery areas habitats, and (3) ontogenetic migratory pathways.

- Approach 3 Tag-recapture programme (Lee et al. 2022): Deep-sea movement patterns during the adult life-history stages were explored using a medium to long-term tag-recapture programme. We aimed to elucidate the movement patterns as well as the extent that these are driving connectivity during the adult life-history stages of Patagonian toothfish in the region. These were investigated specifically in terms of closing the life cycle and providing a linkage between the adult (non-spawning) component on the northern extent of their range with southern spawning areas.
- Approach 4 The early life-history patterns prior to the settlement of juveniles into a demersal habitat remain elusive and largely unexplored. We applied a complementary approach using otolith microstructure and trace element analysis (by LA-ICM-PS) to infer time-resolved elemental profiles that reflect the early ontogeny of juvenile toothfish from key nursery areas on the Patagonian Shelf.
- Approach 5 Genomics (Arkhipkin et al. 2022): Genetic (mtDNA sequences and genome wide nuclear single nucleotide polymorphisms) and morphological data were used to critically evaluate the taxonomic status of toothfish north (Chile and Patagonian shelf) and south (South Georgia and South Sandwich Islands) of the APF. The stock structure of toothfish within the regions was also investigated.



Genetics

Figure 2: Model depicting key life-history stages (boxes), and the approaches undertaken in the current research to investigate potential connectivity pathways (arrows) of Patagonian toothfish on the Patagonian Shelf.

The current research report aims to incorporate the results into the context of other contemporary findings to describe a tentative life cycle for Patagonian toothfish on the Patagonian Shelf. The primary focus of this approach is to identify the nature and extent of resource sharing on a spatial and temporal basis, and evaluate the biological appropriateness of the current stock boundaries. Using this information, a selection of viable management approaches is reviewed that can be considered for sustainable fisheries management. Finally, a range of research, monitoring and management recommendations are provided to inform the continued movement towards an ecosystem-based approach to fisheries management.

2. Research programme findings

Analyses of otolith shape from an extensive component of their distribution highlighted distinct separation along the APF (Approach 1 - Lee et al. 2018). Otolith shape analyses revealed high site fidelity across their distribution, and possible stock separation among early adult fish within localised areas on the Patagonian Shelf. Based on these results limited mixing appeared to occur between southern Chile and Burdwood Bank spawning areas; and feeding grounds off the continental slope and deep-sea plains to the north-east of the Falkland Islands.

Analyses of abundance distributions were undertaken to assess the spatial-temporal persistence (stability) of toothfish nursery area hotspots around the Falkland Islands and to describe their subsequent ontogenetic migration pathways into their adult deep-water habitats (Approach 2 - Lee et al. 2021). Results indicate spatially discrete hotspots exhibiting high temporal variability. This variability is defined through oceanographic influence that drives larval dispersal and survival on the Shelf. Juvenile toothfish appear to follow persistent ontogenetic migrations, linking distinct recruitment areas with their respective component of the adult population on the Patagonian slope. Evidence of mixing among cohort groups during their ontogenetic migration into deep-sea adult habitats was limited, reflecting a mixed population based on oceanographically defined egg and larval dispersal.

Analyses based on data collected from a large-scale tag-recapture programme were used to elucidate the movement patterns as well as the extent that these are driving connectivity during the adult life-history stages of Patagonian toothfish in the region (Approach 3 - Lee et al. 2022). Tagging and recapture results indicated that the majority of individuals (78%) displayed high site fidelity (<50 km). However, 10% of individuals undertook large-distance movements across oceanographic and physical boundaries. These were characterised by large (>120 cm) fish inhabiting the slope and deep-sea plains (north of 52° S) undertaking southward (direction = $150 - 240^{\circ}$) home-range relocations to spawning areas on the Burdwood Bank, North Scotia Ridge and southern Chile.

Otolith microstructure and trace element analysis were applied to infer time-resolved elemental profiles that reflect the early ontogeny of juvenile Patagonian toothfish from key nursery areas on the Patagonian Shelf (Approach 4 - Lee et al. 2023). Results revealed significant ontogenetic shifts in elemental profiles across the early life-history of Patagonian toothfish. From these, key biological benchmarks were identified, including (i) the hatch date distribution (mid-September to late October; mean = 3 October); (ii) the dispersal period of pelagic larvae until their entry onto the Patagonian shelf (0 to 50 days post-hatch); (iii) the entry phase from the shelf extent to inshore waters (<100 m depth; 50 to 100 days post-hatch); (iv) settlement into a demersal habitat (109 days post-hatch); and (v) subsequent migration into juvenile nursery areas (<150 m depth; 120 days post-hatch).

Results from a genetic study suggests two independent evolutionary lineages within the '*D. eleginoides*' complex and their differentiation into two distinct taxonomic entities as separate species based on genomic and morphometric data (Approach 5 - Arkhipkin et al. 2022). Results also implied a complex level of restricted connectivity between local populations of Patagonian toothfish, specifically between fish captured from (1) southern Chile and the Falkland Islands; and (2) Falkland Islands and the high seas (North of Falkland Islands), illustrating the Falkland Islands as an intermediate zone of mixing.

Based on the findings of this research, in combination with material from prior studies of its biology, it is possible to start piecing together a tentative life cycle for Patagonian toothfish on the Patagonian Shelf (Figure 3). This can also identify further gaps in our knowledge that can be used to define future research priorities for improved management. Throughout the discussion below, the terminology defined by Cadrin (2020), Hawkins *et al.* (2016) and

Ciannelli *et al.* (2013) were used, whereby a population refers to a group of interbreeding individuals that exist together in time and space. We therefore refer to the Patagonian toothfish population as that encompassing the full Patagonian range. The Patagonian toothfish population across the Patagonian Shelf is discussed in the context of a possible stock structure continuum, extending across possible sympatric discrete, spatially complex and panmictic population structures (see a further description of the stock structure continuum in Section 1.1).



Figure 3: Map depicting the full Patagonian range occupied by Patagonian toothfish across the study area. Solid lines reflect the conservation zones of the Falkland Islands, including juvenile inshore (50 to 150 m) and sub-adult deep-sea areas (401 to 600 m) for which monitoring data are limited. Black points reflect stations from the demersal biomass trawl survey including deep-sea stations used in 2018 (DBS), and red points indicate Loliginid squid pre-season trawl survey stations.

2.1. Connectivity of Patagonian toothfish across their life-history

2.1.1. Genetic units

Previous genetic evidence using microsatellites, mitochondrial and nuclear DNA, suggests a single population across the Patagonian region, independent of those to the south of the APF (Smith & McVeagh 2000, Shaw et al. 2004, Rogers et al. 2006, Canales-Aguirre et al. 2018). This clear differentiation in self-sustaining units on either side of the APF was validated through the use of otolith shape analyses (Approach 1 - Lee *et al.*, 2018). Further, genomic data are indicative of two independent evolutionary lineages within the '*D. eleginoides*' complex and their differentiation into two distinct taxonomic entities as separate species (Approach 5 - Arkhipkin et al. 2022). A complex level of restricted connectivity was also identified between local populations of Patagonian toothfish, specifically between fish captured from (1) southern Chile and the Falkland Island; and (2) Falkland Islands and the high seas (North of Falkland Islands), illustrating the Falkland Islands as an intermediate zone

of mixing (Approach 5 - Arkhipkin et al. 2022). These findings were supported on the basis of variability (and similarities) in otolith shape among localised regions representing stock contingents on the Patagonian Shelf between Chile, the Burdwood Bank and a Falkland Islands North - High Seas intermediate zone (Approach 1 - Lee *et al.*, 2018).

2.1.2. Spawning

Evidence from previous research identified two discrete spawning localities off southern Chile, and the Burdwood Bank (Laptikhovsky et al. 2006, Arana 2009). The North Scotia Ridge has also been suggested as a probable spawning area in the region (Laptikhovsky et al. 2006). No spawning has been observed on the shelf, slope and deep-sea plateau in waters north of the Falklands Trough (*ca.* 53.5°S) despite extensive monitoring by FIFD fisheries observers since 1994 (Laptikhovsky et al. 2006). Spawning has been recorded over May (minor peak) on the Burdwood Bank, and from July to August across both areas (Laptikhovsky et al. 2006, Arana 2009). On the Burdwood Bank, spawning is thought to take place at depths of 900 to 1200 m, during which distinct vertical movements of 150 to 580 m take place (Laptikhovsky et al. 2013a).

It remains unclear to what extent the spawning areas are indeed discrete units, or instead comprise a continuum extending from southern Chile, across the entire extent of the Burdwood Bank onto the North Scotia Ridge. Results from otolith shape analyses clearly reflect these as discrete population units, although samples from waters intermediate to these areas were not included in the study (Approach 1 - Lee *et al.*, 2018). Results from otolith chemical analyses were inconclusive, with high variability in core signatures either being indicative of (1) a continuous spawning area, (2) the mixing of eggs from discrete areas prior to hatching, or (3) the retention of juveniles around the Falkland Islands from only a single discrete area (Figure 4). Finally, this result may also indicate that inter-individual variability is simply greater than the extent of environmental variability across the region, although, given the results obtained from other studies on otolith chemistry (Ashford et al. 2005, 2012) and shape analyses (Approach 1 - Lee et al. 2018) for Patagonian toothfish in the region, this consideration is unlikely.

A clear delineation of the reproductive potential of fish across the range was not investigated in the current research programme. An understanding of the role of the spawning life-history phase in population connectivity has evolved as an emergent theme requiring research attention (see 3.2.4.2).



Figure 4: Hypothetical depiction of possible scenarios explaining high variability in microchemistry signatures and what this implies in terms of the retention of juveniles from discrete or continuous spawning areas. A.) Continuous spawning area with eggs and larvae spread evenly across the Falklands Shelf. B.) Discrete spawning areas with mixing taking place during the egg phase, or (C.) retention of early juveniles from a single discrete spawning area. BB - Burdwood Bank; SC - Southern Chile; FI:N – Falkland Islands northern shelf; FI:W – Falkland Islands western shelf; FI:S – Falkland Islands southern shelf.

2.1.3. Egg and larval dispersal and retention

The early life-history of Patagonian toothfish prior to settlement on the shelf is elusive. Indeed, during two research surveys, undertaken by the FIFD during November 2015 (Pompert et al. 2015) and December 2018 (Lee *et al.*, 2019), no Patagonian toothfish eggs or larvae were found, despite the occurrence of 100s of larvae from other species in the region (e.g. *Patagonotothen* spp., *myctophid* spp., *Macrourus* spp., *Sprattus fuegensis*). Until now, the information gathered has largely been based on tank-rearing experiments in Chile (Mujica et al. 2016) or from sparsely sampled specimens (n = 43) obtained over extensive time periods (1978 to 2001) predominantly from south of the APF (Evseenko *et al.*, 1995; North, 2002). Specimens sampled during these surveys included three larvae collected from the upper 3 m layer in waters over the northeastern edge of the Burdwood Bank (200 m depth) in December 1997. Based on evidence from the literature, these samples represent the only reliable record of larval Patagonian toothfish attained for the Patagonian population. From the combined sample collected in this study (i.e. across genetically discrete units), the egg and larval period have been described as pelagic, occurring in the upper 250 m of the water column. Further,

these results provide an egg phase duration ranging between 30 and 105 days. The timing, depth and dispersal characteristics that occur during the egg phase for the Patagonian population, have therefore remained uncertain.

Through the computation of particle trajectories in an oceanographic simulation model, Ashford et al. (2012b) predicted potential dispersal pathways, and retention possibilities for juvenile Patagonian toothfish on the shelf around the Falkland Islands (Table 1). However, due to knowledge gaps, results were wide ranging (0 to 28.5%), depending on the month of release, dispersal period, and retention area. Through results achieved from otolith microstructure and chemical analyses, we were able to identify the timing of key early lifehistory events including (1) the hatch date distribution (mid-September to late October; mean = 3 October \pm 8.47 days); (2) a period of natal dispersal (0 to 50 days post-hatch, dph; mean = 22 November); and (3) entry of pelagic larvae onto the Patagonian shelf (50 to 100 dph; 1 January); (4) settlement into a demersal habitat (100 to 120 dph; 31 January); and (5) the start of a downslope ontogenetic migration into juvenile nursery areas (>120 dph; Approach 4 - Lee et al. 2023). Results from the current research programme indicated a mid-July to late-August release date and a 60 - 140-day period of egg and larval dispersal from spawning areas to the shelf-edge (Approach 4 - Lee et al. 2023). These refinements seem to provide positive validation for the retention of dispersed eggs and larvae from both spawning areas with a dominance of input from southern Chile to the western shelf, and mixed retention in the south and northeast. Model predictions indicate that all egg and larval dispersal arising from the North Scotia Ridge would be retained in the High Seas to the north of the Falkland Islands (Ashford et al. 2012).

a)								
Month	Destination	Mean % in FICZ at day						
		50	100	200	250	300		
May	North	2.6 (0–5)	3 (0–8)	0	0	0		
	South	17(0–38.5)	11 (0–26)	1.5 (0–5)	1.5 (0–5)	1.5 (0–5)		
June	North	1(0–2.6)	1 (0–5)	1 (0–5)	0	0		
	South	16 (5–26)	7 (0–23)	0.5 (0–2.5)	1 (0–5)	1.5 (0–8)		
July	North	3.6 (0–13)	0.5 (0–2.6)	0	0	0		
	South	15(5–20.5)	11 (5–15)	3 (0–10)	1.5 (0–8)	2 (0–10)		
b)								
May	North	1.8 (0–4)	7.5 (3–11)	13 (6–22)	3(1.5–6)	1.5 (0–3)		
	South	17(4.5–31)	27 (16–44)	5 (0–10)	2 (0–3)	2.3 (0–6)		
June	North	0.8 (0–4) 14.5 (3–	10(1.5–25) 22.5 (10–	10 (6–17)	2 (0–6)	1.8 (0–4)		
	South	26)	40)	3 (0–4)	3 (0–10)	2 (0–4) 3.5(3.5–		
July	North	2.4 (0–4)	12 (3–24) 28.5 (15–	9 (4–19) 3.3 (1.5–	3.5 (1.5–9) 3.5(1.5–	10) 3.5(1.5–		
	South	11 (3–25)	46)	10)	12)	10)		

Table 1: Mean percentage (range) of simulated particles (representing egg and larval dispersal) released between May and July 1996–2000 from (a) Burdwood Bank and (b) southern Chile, present in the northern and southern FICZ at 50–300 days (table taken from Ashford *et al.*, 2012b). Refined scenarios based on recent results have been highlighted in grey.

Further support for spatial-temporal variability of a mixed stock origin was provided through species distribution models of age-structured cohorts (Approach 2 - Lee et al. 2021). Retention hotspots that serve as nursery areas for juvenile Patagonian toothfish showed strong spatial-temporal variation, specifically to the northeast, west and south of the Falkland Islands

(Approach 2 - Lee et al. 2021). The retention of early juveniles in these areas as discrete units is strongly suggestive of recruitment from separate spawning areas, or spawning periods (Hare & Richardson 2014). A discrete hatch date distribution, however, precludes separate spawning periods (Approach 4 - Lee et al. 2023). The spatial-temporal abundance patterns of juvenile Patagonian toothfish in nursery areas were largely driven by mesoscale oceanographic features, specifically eddies forming off the northeast of the Burdwood Bank (Approach 2 - Lee et al. 2021). The increased presence of these oceanographic features provides an important link between the Subantarctic Front (and Burdwood Bank spawning area) with the Falklands Shelf leading to higher levels of larval retention and recruitment; specifically, to the southern (2015 and 2017) and northeastern (2015) nursery areas. Results obtained from spatial-temporal patterns in subsequent year classes indicate that in the absence of retention hotspots, low levels of stable recruitment continue to occur to the northwest of the Falkland Islands, thought to originate from southern Chile (Ashford et al. 2012). The greater oceanic influence through these eddies was identified in otolith chemical profiles of fish retained in the southern and northeastern areas during these years of high recruitment (Approach 4 - Lee et al. 2023). Heterogeneity in otolith core chemistry for Patagonian toothfish sampled from the northern and southern Falklands Shelf has been linked to a southern Chile or Burdwood Bank natal origin (Ashford et al. 2012). Variability in otolith shape of fish from the northern foraging grounds only indicated minor association with the Burdwood Bank and complete isolation with southern Chile (Approach 1 - Lee et al., 2018). However, otolith samples used in the study were from adult individuals, and environmental stability through high site fidelity may have masked any association with original spawning areas.

The balance of results therefore favours a mixed stock origin with a self-sustaining population dominated by input during high recruitment cohorts from the Burdwood Bank spawning population to the southern and northeastern shelf. Finally, results obtained from Approach 2 (Lee et al. 2021) and Approach 4 (Lee et al. 2023) provide the distinct potential for further refining of model predictions through the provision of known retention areas (i.e. nursery hotspots) and dispersal periods in a given year, and the inclusion of these in predictions inferred through particle simulation oceanographic models (see 3.2.4.3).

2.1.4. Demersal juveniles and sub-adults

Benthic juveniles appear on the shelf for the first time at length of 5 to 15 cm during late January to early February (Arkhipkin & Laptikhovsky 2010). In Approach 4 (Lee et al. 2023), settlement into a demersal habitat was identified at 110 days post-hatch, with a mean date of settlement on 10 January (in the peak of the austral summer). In Approach 2 (Lee et al. 2021), persistent (stable) nursery area hotspots were identified to the northwest, along with opportunistic (spatially and temporally variable) areas to the south and northeast of the Falkland Islands (see discussion above). Nursery areas were characterised by the presence of quasi-stationary upwelling regions where cold, productive subantarctic waters were pushed up onto the Falklands Shelf.

The recruitment of juveniles into discrete nursery areas proves vital in defining their abundance and ontogenetic migratory pathways over the next three to five years. During their juvenile life-history stages (ages 0+ to 3+), it was shown how a spatially progressive (related to previous age) down-slope ontogenetic migration occurred into deeper waters (Approach 2 - Lee *et al.* 2021; Approach 4 - Lee *et al.* 2023). Predictable pathways were identified adjacent to the areas of initial recruitment. As such, juvenile Patagonian toothfish that were retained in the southern nursery area migrated southwards; those within the northeast nursery area migrated towards the northern and eastern slope; and those to the west migrated southwest towards the western extent of the Falklands Trough, thus linking up with the southern ontogenetic migratory corridor. By age 4 (50 to 60 cm TL) the majority of juvenile toothfish (>97% by number) had migrated past the shelf edge into waters >400 m. This is indicative that

the stock structure, as defined by recruitment patterns, is largely retained throughout the juvenile to sub-adult life-history stages, with no evidence of large-scale mixing taking place on the shelf up to the point of their entrance into deeper waters of the slope.

Difference in the otolith shape of Patagonian toothfish sampled from adult fish (TL > lengthat-50% maturity) on the Burdwood Bank and the northern Slope provides retrospective validation of isolation over the course of their life-history from their recruitment into nursery areas, and through their spatially discrete ontogenetic migrations (Approach 1 - Lee *et al.*, 2018). A second consideration is that these results indicate that abundance on the eastern slope is largely driven by the northeast nursery area; while the southward direction of the ontogenetic migrations of fish from the southern and western nursery area appear to feed into the southern slope, the Falklands Trough, the Burdwood Bank and possibly even as far as the southern Chilean adult components of the population.

The term sub-adult is defined as juvenile fish that use adult habitats rather than spatially discrete juvenile nursery and ontogenetic pathway habitats (Hare & Richardson 2014). Information on the sub-adult component of the population that occurs between 400 m and 800 m is scarce, mainly due to it forming a gap between the maximum depths targeted by commercial trawlers (400 m) and longline operations (generally >900 m). However, length-frequency data (n = 1588; 2015 to 2021) indicates that this region largely comprised fish with lengths between 35 and 75 cm, reflecting fish between 3 and 5 years old (Approach 2 - Lee *et al.*, 2021; Figure 5). These sub-adult cohorts can be followed with increasing depths, although a clear convergence with older adult life-history stages occurs at depths between 600 and 1000 m. The sub-adult to adult components of the population are therefore thought to be more or less separated along this depth range (Laptikhovsky et al. 2006, Arkhipkin & Laptikhovsky 2010). These results indicate that the final stages of the sub-adult ontogenetic migration take place across the same down-slope spatially discrete patterns, as defined in Approach 2 (Lee et al. 2021) until convergence with the adult component of the population.



Figure 5: Length frequency distribution at different depths for Patagonian toothfish sampled on the Patagonian Shelf and Slope between 2015 and 2021 (n = 71897).

2.1.5. Adults

The length at which 50% of the population reaches maturity for both the Falkland Islands and southern Chile is reported as 81 to 86 cm (male) and 89 to 90 cm (female), respectively (Laptikhovsky et al. 2006, Arana 2009). Histological evidence suggests that maturity may be reached at smaller sizes (Falkland Islands; females = 79.1 cm), although the majority of individuals (55.8 to 85.6%) are not active participants in spawning on an annual basis (Boucher 2018, Yates et al. 2018). On the Kerguelen Plateau, the ontogenetic migration of Patagonian toothfish is thought to stop between 600 and 1200 m where they settle at their preferred depth to feed and grow as they approach maturity (Péron et al. 2016). Length-frequency distributions around the Falkland Islands reflect similar patterns (Figure 5). Fish

occupying these depths reflect a consolidation of sub-adult cohorts entering the deep-sea adult population (Arkhipkin & Laptikhovsky 2010).

Results of Approach 1 (Lee et al., 2018), provide little evidence of movement in sub-adult and early adult fish (70 to 120 cm). These indications were further validated by results from tagrecapture data showing high levels of site fidelity across their Falklands distribution (Approach 3 - Lee et al., 2022). However, despite high site fidelity, small-scale (44.40% of recaptured fish moved between 11 and 50 km) to medium-scale (12.50% of recaptured fish undertook movements of 51 to 200 km) movement, defined as foraging activity does seem to occur (Approach 3 - Lee et al., 2022; Brown et al., 2013a). At this stage in the life-history, the stock structure therefore remains defined according to the dispersal and subsequent retention of larvae within nursery areas, and the associated ontogenetic migratory pathways into adjacent deeper waters. Upon reaching maturity, fish that were retained as larvae on the Burdwood Bank continue their ontogenetic migration into deeper waters for spawning. The extent of their spawning on an annual basis remains uncertain and requires further research (Boucher 2018, Yates et al. 2018). Fish that were previously retained as larvae on the west, northeast and southern areas of the Falklands Shelf, consisting of southern Chile and Burdwood Bank contingents, utilise these adult areas on the southern, northern and eastern slope exclusively as feeding zones to grow and increase body condition for migrations to spawning grounds.

Two sets of movement behaviours appear to be initiated when fish reach spawning condition. Fish begin what appears to be (1) a range relocation towards spawning grounds; in combination with (2) a continuation of their ontogenetic migration into deeper waters (Approach 3 - Lee et al., 2022). Due to the absence of northern spawning grounds, this would suggest a continued southward dispersal and replacement pattern undertaken by larger fish that were retained as larvae on the Falklands Shelf and High Seas. Many fish, however, do not appear to be undertaking this home-range relocation. Either they are unable to reach suitable condition to undertake a migration, or this is attained relatively late in their life-history. While return feeding migrations have been proposed, results from Approach 1 (Lee et al. 2018) indicating clear differences in the otolith shape among local regions, and Approach 3 (Lee et al., 2022) showing an absence of southward migrations, suggest that this is not a common occurrence. Further, results suggest that natal homing may be apparent in their southward home-range relocations, although this requires further investigation (see Section 6.4.3. Data Collection and Monitoring: Tag-recapture Programme). Given their long life-history, a tagrecapture programme of six years is relatively short, and further patterns may become evident over time.

2.2. Stock structure: Spatially complex population

Large-scale uncertainty remains in our understanding of the stock structure for Patagonian toothfish in the region. The absence of clear genetic heterogeneity across the region suggests that sympatric discrete populations are unlikely (Arkhipkin et al. 2022). Similarly, evidence of genetic structuring and high site fidelity as described through results from otolith shape (Lee *et al.* 2018) and tag-recapture analyses (Lee *et al.*, 2022) indicate a definitive panmictic population structure is also not reflective of the Patagonian toothfish population in the region. Results across studies are suggestive of a spatially complex population, i.e. a metapopulation type structure (Smedbol & Stephenson 2001, Ciannelli et al. 2013). Life-cycle connectivity from juvenile retention areas around the Falkland Islands, through progressive life-history stages to southern spawning locations, suggests deviation from a distinct source-sink model (Approach 2 - Lee *et al.* 2021; Approach 3 - Lee *et al.* 2022). Nonetheless, characteristics of this structure do appear to exist as reflected in high site fidelity outside of the spawning areas (Approach 3 - Lee *et al.* 2022), possibly indicative of vagrants (Sinclair & Iles 1989).

The key question of where along the continuum Patagonian toothfish in the region lie, in terms of a classical metapopulation vs panmictic type stock structure, relates to the extent of

connectivity among discrete or continuous spawning areas; specifically, to the extent that spawning areas are indeed structured as discrete units as opposed to a continuous zone extending across the southern range. Evidence, however, suggests discrete spawning areas occurring across their southern range are likely. A second interacting factor relates to the extent that return home-range relocations of reproductively capable adults (Approach 3 - Lee *et al.* 2022) are a reflection of natal homing to discrete spawning areas, or simply a movement to the area most suitable for spawning. The occurrence of natal-homing would suggest a classical metapopulation type structure, even despite the indication of large-scale mixing of contingents during the process of egg and larval dispersal.

The stock structure for Patagonian toothfish on the Patagonian Shelf and deep-sea plateau may be a reflection of a spatially complex classical metapopulation type structure with aspects of source-sink dynamics according to the 'member-vagrant hypothesis'. The population structure is comprised of at least three contingents, arising from southern Chile (SC), Burdwood Bank (BB) and North Scotia Ridge (NSR) spawning stocks (Figure 6). Spawning occurs between May and August across the population. A component of the southern Chile contingent is retained within Chilean waters across all life-history stages (Arana 2009: Approach 1 - Lee et al. 2018), also reflecting a distinct member group according to the 'Member-Vagrant Hypothesis' (Sinclair & Iles 1989). Similarly, a component of the Burdwood Bank contingent is retained within this area from larval, through to the spawning life-history stages (Ashford et al. 2012b; Approach 1 - Lee et al. 2018). Egg and larval dispersal from the North Scotia Ridge spawning stock are all retained on the High Seas to the north of the Falkland Islands (Ashford et al. 2012). Early juveniles that are retained on the shelf around the Falkland Islands arise from both the southern Chile and Burdwood Bank spawning areas. The compositions of individuals from each contingent are not known, but high levels of mixing are hypothesised.

Early juveniles from the Burdwood Bank spawning area are retained across the southern (Ashford et al. 2012) and northeastern extent (Approach 4 - Lee et al. 2023) of the Shelf, with years of high recruitment driven by oceanographic processes (Approach 2 - Lee *et al.*, 2021). Early juveniles that are retained from the southern Chile spawning therefore appear to be less vulnerable to oceanographic variability and are distributed more consistently across the shelf regions around the Falkland Islands, in particular to the western shelf (Ashford *et al.*, 2012b; Approach 2 - Lee *et al.*, 2021). The stock structure is largely retained throughout the subsequent nursery and ontogenetic migratory life-history phases until maturity is reached. However, there is some evidence of mixing of contingents on the Falklands Shelf through (1) the merging of the western and southern ontogenetic migratory pathways into a single southern channel; (2) the eastward ontogenetic migration of juveniles from the southern and northeast nursery areas.

Upon reaching maturity, a considerable proportion of the population (9 to 25% covering all contingents) initiate large-scale southern dispersal movements defined as home-range relocations towards what may be their original spawning contingent (natal homing). Many individuals that were dispersed as eggs and larvae to these northern areas, however, do not appear to undertake a home-range relocation, remaining as non-spawning (but spawning capable) inhabitants (i.e. vagrants displaying source-sink characteristics). This means that the stock structure across the adult deep-sea habitats consists of (1) non-spawning (but spawning capable) vagrants retained as larvae from the three spawning contingents; potential migrants (2) passing through or (3) yet to undertake their home-range relocations to their respective spawning grounds; or (4) individuals that have undertaken a return migration, although there is currently only limited evidence available to support this hypothesis (i.e. a return feeding migration as hypothesised by Laptikhovsky *et al.* (2006a) and Boucher (2018)).

The adult life-history stages occurring on the Burdwood Bank spawning grounds therefore consist of (1) locally retained fish; (2) returnees of Burdwood Bank contingents that were

dispersed as eggs and larvae to the High Seas and Falklands Shelf; and (3) North Scotia Ridge and Southern Chile contingents passing through as they undertake home-range relocations towards their respective spawning grounds. This reinforces the importance of the Burdwood Bank population, not only as an important spawning stock contingent driving recruitment across the Patagonian Shelf and slope, but also as a major connectivity hotspot for Southern Chile and North Scotia Ridge contingents as they pass through to their respective spawning grounds.



Figure 6: Hypothetical life-cycle for Patagonian toothfish depicting the stock structure based on findings of this thesis. The three spawning stock contingents (NSR = North Scotia Ridge, BB = Burdwood Bank, SC = Southern Chile) that make up the metapopulation are depicted passing through areas of interest across key life-history stages. Regions of interest: BB = Burdwood Bank, FI:W = Falkland Islands west, FI:E = Falkland Islands East, FI:S = Falkland Islands South, FI:NE = Falkland Islands North East, HS = High Seas, SC = Southern Chile. Dashed lines indicate movement across areas.

3. Application of findings

3.1. Management approaches

Understanding where the Patagonian toothfish population structure lies in terms of a discrete sympatric – spatially complex – panmixia continuum provides a framework in which to define suitable management units (Hawkins et al. 2016). For a population displaying sympatric or distinct source-sink characteristics, the emphasis is on management of the source population (i.e. southern Chile, Burdwood Bank and North Scotia Shelf). At the other end of the extreme, a classical metapopulation approaching panmixia requires consideration as an integrated single unit.

While a broad spectrum of potential techniques is available, Kerr *et al.* (2017) described five core approaches that have been applied to integrate new information on complex population structure and mixing of marine fish into assessment and management. These will be discussed below in relation to the findings of the current research and their potential application in the development of improved assessment and management measures for Patagonian toothfish around the Falkland Islands. It is important to note that these management approaches are not mutually exclusive. In the current context, multiple approaches have been incorporated over time, and are noted in the discussion below.

3.1.1. Status quo management

The status quo management approach reflects the situation wherein there is insufficient information to change current management practices, providing a default position. The basis for following this approach involves the situations wherein (1) levels of uncertainty or the reliability of current data is inadequate to provide credible or robust advice for management, (2) the presence of stock units that span international boundaries characterised by complex politics, or (3) a combination of the above. These factors are largely applicable in the current context wherein each geographical area is managed independently according to political boundaries, with the assumption of no mixing of contingents. The degree of stock mixing across these political boundaries is therefore an important source of uncertainty in the assessment of Patagonian toothfish.

Through improved collaborations (see 3.2.3), the achievement of strategic research objectives (see 3.2.4), and enhanced monitoring (see 3.2.5), changes in the relative abundance of unique populations can be tracked. Further, sufficient scientific consensus is available, both in terms of stock structure and life-history dynamics, for the incorporation and implementation of additional approaches for meeting management objectives. These will be further developed in the sections below.

3.1.2. 'Weakest link' management

The weakest link management approach reflects the situation wherein there is some knowledge of spatial structure, but insufficient information exists to explicitly manage all spawning components. Therefore, the assumed weakest spawning component is protected through management measures. Although not necessarily the 'weakest link', based on management objectives, this would involve the introduction of measures to protect the Burdwood Bank contingent of the stock. The justification for the selection of the Burdwood Bank as the 'weakest link' is based on it being the spawning area that can be comprehensively controlled by the Falkland Islands Government.

The relative contribution of the Burdwood Bank contingent to the abundance of Patagonian toothfish across life-history stages and areas (see 3.2.4.1) is not known. Further, how this

contribution varies on a spatial-temporal scale according to oceanographic processes (see section 3.2.4.3) is yet to be identified. However, the occurrence of this contingent in spatial units across the spawning area itself (Burdwood Bank), nursery areas (Burdwood Bank, northeastern and southern shelf), and the ontogenetic pathways that link these (southern and southeast pathway) have been identified. Options for the implementation of management measures to protect the Burdwood Bank contingent can therefore be pursued using this approach.

At present, management measures have already been implemented for the protection of the Burdwood Bank spawning area. For example, no trawling is permitted on the Burdwood Bank, and longline based commercial fisheries are prohibited from fishing in the area during spawning from June to August (see 3.1.3). In addition, management measures have been initiated with the objective of reducing bycatch of juvenile Patagonian toothfish on the Shelf. These entail a 'move-on rule' in which vessels are required to exit the spatial unit (pre-defined $0.5^{\circ}W \times 0.25^{\circ}S$ grid-squares) wherein they are fishing for 10 days, after triggering an action (defined as Patagonian toothfish catch >1.5% of daily aggregated trawl catch calculated for each respective vessel).

The implementation of a weakest link management approach can be considered as an extreme version of precautionary principles, in the presence of uncertainty. The greatest drawback of this is that it can also lead to an under-utilization of the population, and therefore not be effective in optimizing long-term yield (Punt & Donovan 2007). In contrast, the weakest link management approach can also result in a displacement of effort to contingents that are not being protected, leading to an overall loss of biomass and decrease in yield (Crowder et al. 2000, Abbott & Haynie 2012).

3.1.3. Spatial and temporal closures

Spatial and temporal closures can be implemented in situations where there is knowledge of spatial structure, but insufficient information exists to alter the scale of assessment. Spatial and temporal closures are usually used to protect vulnerable life-history stages, sometimes at specific times of the year (e.g. spawning populations).

A year-round closure has been implemented on the Burdwood Bank to trawl-activity, as well as to commercial longline operation during the Patagonian toothfish spawning season. However, nursery and juvenile life-history stages remain susceptible to fishing pressure. Based on data from long-term monitoring programmes (biomass surveys, pre-season surveys), spatially and temporally variable nursery area hotspots can be reliably predicted. Further, the increasing persistence with age in the abundance of shelf-based juveniles and sub-adults across ontogenetic pathways, reflect stable spatial zones as a focus point for the implementation of management measures (Approach 2 - Lee et al., 2021). Due to the low abundance of Patagonian toothfish in their nursery areas relative to species targeted by commercial fisheries (Merluccius hubbsi, D. gahi), along with their small size (6 to 15 cm, 4 to 10 g), newly recruited juveniles are unlikely to be protected by the move-on rule described above. Further, closed areas are likely to create problems due to overlap with other important commercial fisheries across the region. Additional spatial and temporal closures need to be investigated in relation to gear-restrictions (mesh size restriction), and implemented on a proactive basis according to thresholds and triggers, defined according to a robust monitoring framework (see 3.2.5.1).

3.1.4. Integration of stock composition into management

The incorporation of stock composition into management decisions can be applied in situations where there is knowledge of stock mixing, but insufficient information exists to

explicitly model connectivity within a stock assessment. An understanding of the stock composition for Patagonian toothfish around the Falkland Islands is not currently known, although there is a clear potential for this to be achieved (see 3.2.4.1). Understanding stock composition in a given year, may provide higher levels of resolution for the implementation of weakest link management (see 3.1.2) or spatial and temporal closures (see 3.1.3), protecting stock components of importance (based on management objectives), without adversely affecting overall yield. Further, the development of time series of composition data across life-history stages, can subsequently be used to identify oceanographic, anthropogenic or environmental drivers of these changes. Relevant management measures can then be incorporated to mitigate these changes.

3.1.5. Alteration of stock boundaries

The alteration of stock boundaries is a management approach wherein sufficient information is available on population structure, which allows updating and redrawing stock boundaries to improve the alignment of biological populations and management units. In the current context, high levels of uncertainty still characterise our understanding of the stock structure within the region. What is evident is that some levels of connectivity among the three spawning stock contingents are likely. Increased collaborative efforts with Chile and Argentina would be beneficial in terms of developing a unified framework for assessments. From this broad perspective of unified management, and based on assessments derived from the overall population, improved management objectives can be identified that are based on the incorporation of the approaches described above.

3.2. Management recommendations

The results of this work have filled important gaps and together with prior research, has provided important baseline information in terms of understanding the stock structure for Patagonian toothfish in the region. However, fundamental information is still required to build up a complete picture. These themes described below are based on information requirements pertaining to two key life-history periods that appear to be the driving force in terms of stock structure within the region: the dispersal of eggs and larvae through oceanographic processes and home-range relocations undertaken by spawning capable adults.

3.2.1. Maintain and revise current management measures

Management measures that have already been implemented for the protection of the spawning stock and juvenile components of the population should be maintained and further developed in terms of future research. Specifically, restrictions of trawling on the Burdwood Bank should be maintained. Similarly, the prohibition of longline fishing on the Burdwood Bank during spawning from June to August should be maintained.

The 'move-on rule' requires further revisions to ensure the protection of shelf-based newly recruited toothfish on a proactive basis (see 3.1.3). This aspect has been further refined in a recent report undertaken by FIFD providing a range of data management, monitoring and fisheries management recommendations in this regard (Skeljo 2023). In particular, potential candidates for a new threshold could be either in absolute (100 - 200 kg of toothfish bycatch per vessel-day) or relative terms (0.5 - 1.0% of toothfish bycatch per vessel-day).

3.2.2. Stock assessment

Current results demonstrate that the stock structure arising from the retention of mixed contingents across the Falklands Shelf remains discrete (within the Falkland Islands Conservation Zone) until adult life-history stages. Considering the currently available

information, for the purpose of stock assessment it is recommended to assume that there is one discrete toothfish stock present in Falkland Islands waters.

3.2.3. Collaborations

A key theme that has arisen across this research reflects the shared Patagonian toothfish population across political boundaries. It is therefore important for increased collaborative research, monitoring and communications to take place between the scientific departments of Chile, Argentina, and the Falkland Islands. This is already starting to occur between Chile and the Falkland Islands, with the development of new research projects in this regard that may provide further clarity in terms of understanding the stock composition in areas south of the spawning grounds (see 3.2.4.1). Further, future findings may push for further collaborative efforts in terms of assessments for the Patagonian toothfish population as a combined stock, or the inclusion of data from specified contingents that straddle international boundaries.

3.2.4. Research priorities

3.2.4.1. Research priority 1: The identification of mixed stock origin on the Patagonian Shelf

The aim of this study would be the identification of markers that can be used to develop a time-series, describing the proportions of each contingent across the population. While otolith shape was shown to be effective in discriminating fish captured across areas, it is unclear to what extent this is a reflection of (1) the stock contingent from which they arise, or the area within which they have spent their lives up to the point of capture (i.e. a reflection of high site fidelity adjacent to the area of larval retention; Approach 1 - Lee *et al.*, 2018). Otolith microchemistry analysis may provide the key missing component for identifying the stock composition of Patagonian toothfish across the region. The specific objectives for such a study would be to identify elemental signatures in the core region of otoliths from the three spawning contingents (Chile, Burdwood Bank and North Scotia Ridge), and compare these with signatures from fish dispersed across the Patagonian Shelf. Such a collaborative project has already been initiated between the Falkland Islands and Chile through the sharing of otolith samples.

3.2.4.2. Research priority 2: Identification of stock reproductive potential

Key questions pertaining to the reproductive biology for Patagonian toothfish were identified in the current study, with a key focus on the extent of potential skipped spawning in their adult, deep-sea, northern habitats. Further research is required to characterise the active spawning depth, seasons, and maturity schedule in Patagonian toothfish across contingents. In addition, it is essential to estimate the proportion of each spawning stock contingent that fails to undertake home-range relocations, or actively participate in spawning (i.e. skipped spawners as discussed in Approach 3 - Lee *et al.*, 2022). Related to this, further research should be undertaken to evaluate the extent of spawning periodicity that takes place in Patagonian toothfish among contingents across the Patagonian Shelf.

3.2.4.3. Research priority 3: Early life-history transport on the Patagonian Shelf

Improving our understanding of oceanic transport and their role in population connectivity during egg and larval dispersal has emerged as a key driver of stock structure dynamics for Patagonian toothfish. Such approaches have already been investigated through the important works undertaken by Ashford *et al.* (2012b) as well as by Mori *et al.* (2016) on the Kerguelen Plateau. The predictive abilities of these works can be enhanced through the incorporation and validation provided by recent research findings, such as the (1) incorporation of known

larval retention areas based on spatial-temporal distribution models (Approach 2 - Lee *et al.*, 2021), (2) improved understanding of spawning behaviour (see 3.2.4.2); and updated estimates of the larval period prior to settlement (Approach 4 - Lee et al. 2023).

3.2.5. Data collection and monitoring

3.2.5.1. Fisheries-independent surveys

Demersal biomass surveys represent the most important high-resolution data source supporting the evaluation of demersal resources based on fishery-independent data around the Falkland Islands. Together with the Patagonian longfin squid pre-season surveys, annual data have been collected from across the Patagonian Shelf around the Falkland Islands since 2015. There are four aspects that can be considered for these data to be used for monitoring Patagonian toothfish stocks for the implementation of effective management measures. These are specifically related to the monitoring of (1) nursery areas, (2) deep-sea ontogenetic migratory transition zones (3) expansion to encompass a seasonal component and (4) increased alignment among the two survey data collection protocols.

Shallow coastal waters are essential recruitment and nursery grounds for Patagonian toothfish (Approach 2 - Lee *et al.*, 2021). It is necessary to develop fishery-independent survey protocols to collect reliable information from areas for monitoring recruitment patterns into identified nursery areas. The inclusion of extensive, high intensity bottom trawl stations may have negative effects on habitats in these sensitive ecosystems (Pitcher et al. 2017). Careful control of sampling efforts and monitoring of benthic community changes in these areas should therefore be considered. Considerations should also be given for the development and inclusion of zooplankton survey programmes for monitoring potential egg and larval retention in nursery areas and species interactions that occur at this life-history stage.

In addition, it is important for the inclusion of deep-sea stations between 400 and 600 m for which data is extremely limited (see Figure 3). The acquisition of data from these depths is critical for understanding the linkages between the juvenile and sub-adult population on the shelf, with the adult population in deeper waters. Such an extension has indeed been undertaken (for example in 2018; Gras et al. 2018), and subsequent surveys can easily be extended to incorporate these stations.

Finally, the inclusion of a winter demersal biomass survey component is essential for obtaining (1) seasonal spatial-temporal patterns in abundance, as well as (2) the provision of reliable data and validation on recruitment strength. These data would significantly reduce uncertainty and provide increased resolution for use in predictive modelling of recruitment, timing, strength, and spatial usage for the implementation of proactive management measures (see 3.1.2 and 3.1.3). Such a survey has already been undertaken during 2017 and 2022, with a further one proposed for 2023.

Each of these aspects mentioned in the paragraphs above can equally be argued along the basis of their importance to many other commercially important fish species, and the species complex surrounding their interactions (Approach 2 - Lee *et al.*, 2021). For example, results of Approach 2 - Lee *et al.* (2021) identified inter-specific interactions among juvenile Patagonian toothfish with icefish (competition) and rock cod (predator-prey relationship) across their nursery and shelf-based life-history stages. In the deep-sea environment, very little is known in terms of the population dynamics and life-history for the ridge-scaled grenadier, a species showing strong vulnerabilities to overexploitation, and a key prey source for sub-adult Patagonian toothfish (Arkhipkin et al. 2003, Lee et al. 2019a). Monitoring changes in a multi-species assemblage in a dynamic environment therefore provides further context into how the effective management of fisheries needs to be considered within an ecosystem-based framework (Link 2010, Campana et al. 2020, Franco et al. 2020).

There is an increasing need for the alignment of protocols across the two fisheries independent surveys undertaken by the Falkland Islands Government. Patagonian longfin squid pre-season surveys utilise full commercial fishing gear, longer (two hour) stations with fewer participating staff (see Approach 2 - Lee *et al.*, 2021). The resolution of data collected from demersal biomass surveys is therefore far greater, given the staff capacity involved, and the effort applied for stations. Given the multi-facetted approach and multiple objectives applied to both these surveys, greater alignment can only reduce uncertainty and provide an improved ability to monitor Patagonian toothfish spatial and temporal patterns across the region. While this outcome is desirable, the increased alignment of protocols is restricted by the budget and personnel constraints at FIFD. The current status is therefore to maximize the opportunities provided by the surveys in their current form.

3.2.5.2. Environmental monitoring

Oceanographic factors have been shown to be key drivers of larval dispersal across the region (Approach 2 - Lee *et al.*, 2021). There is an urgent need for routine analysis of long-term trends of environmental change, and the identification of what this means for Patagonian toothfish recruitment to the Falklands Shelf (see 3.2.4.3). These data can be used as contextual information for the implementation of direct and indirect management measures:

- Direct: the protection of juvenile cohorts as they undertake their migration across the shelf through the implementation of an appropriate spatial management approach.
- Indirect: Reduce the impact of fishing on age truncation through appropriate sustainability measures. Long-lived spawners (such as occurs in toothfish) provides a storage effect whereby a stock will persist as long as enough adults outlive periods unfavourable to successful spawning and recruitment.

Further, the distributional response of Patagonian toothfish and the species and habitats upon which they rely to environmental change is not known. Environmental change is likely to modify spatial and temporal patterns through range expansions and contractions (Campana et al. 2020), particularly for species at the extent of their range, like Patagonian toothfish.

Environmental (CTD) data are already collected by FIFD on a routine basis. The incorporation of these data into satellite monitoring programmes will reduce uncertainty in these products, providing benefits in its extraction and use as environmental drivers for future research objectives.

3.2.5.3. Tag-recapture programme

The guidelines and protocols that were established for the tagging programme have been demonstrated as effective, providing a high-quality data set. Recapture rates have remained high during the course of the programme and consistent patterns are emerging from the data, providing valuable insights into the stock structure and movement patterns of Patagonian toothfish within the Falkland Islands Conservation Zones; and indeed, across the wider southwest Atlantic. From 2023, tag-recapture data has been included within the stock assessment. These factors re-assert the importance for maintaining the tag-recapture programme objectives, specifically for the continued tagging of ~1000 toothfish per year within the Falkland Islands Conservation Zones. The best approach for achieving this should be determined through further discussion in collaboration with industry, and the FIFD Patagonian toothfish scientific team.

According to the current approach, an annual target of 400 toothfish (40%) should be tagged by FIFD observers per year. As stated in the FIFD observer manual for longliners, the specific objective for scientific fisheries observers at sea is to tag an average of 25 fish per week / 4

fish per biological sampling day at sea. This objective should be undertaken according to the following approach:

- Observers should tag the first 4 suitable fish from lines targeted for tagging. It is recommended to conduct the tagging at the beginning of the haul as it is more likely the fish will be in better condition for tagging.
- There should be flexibility regarding the time period to conduct tagging across multiple lines per day so that the objective can be achieved. This is specifically in cases when a particular targeted line may have yielded fewer than 4 toothfish suitable for tagging within an initial 15-minute time period.

During the first 6 years of the tag-recapture programme this target has not been achieved, and the numbers of fish tagged by FIFD observers has been substantially lower compared to tagging surveys (83.75% for surveys vs 16.25% for FIFD Observers).

It is recommended that a pulsed tagging protocol (see Approach 3 - Lee *et al.*, 2022) should be included as an objective on further research surveys undertaken on the CFL Hunter. These surveys have been the driver of tagging effort during the first 6-years of the tag-recapture programme. Such surveys can be incorporated into an annual programme as follows:

- Pulsed-tagging as a primary objective: In the absence of increased FIFD observer tagging effort, a single two-week pulsed tagging survey will be required on an annual basis. The intention of such a trip would be to tag up to 1000 fish covering the full spatial extent of the toothfish distribution in the FCZ.
- Tagging as a secondary objective: Should tagging rates be improved by FIFD observers, tagging can be included in future surveys as a secondary objective. Such objectives would be related to covering shortfalls in the number of tags deployed, and the deployment of tags in areas with low sampling effort.

Discussions should further build towards collaborations in this venture with the intention to (1) extend the spatial scale of the study and (2) quantify and improve the reporting of recaptures in areas outside of the Falkland Islands (see 3.2.3).

3.3. Conclusion

This research programme applied an integrated approach to define aspects of the stock structure of Patagonian toothfish on the Patagonian Shelf to reveal complex patterns. Connectivity is largely driven during the early life-history phases of egg and larval dispersal, although high levels of uncertainty remain. Further, evidence of connectivity across the region through the active migration of adults appears to occur on a relatively small scale. Current results demonstrate that the stock structure arising from the retention of mixed contingents across the Falklands Shelf remains discrete (within the Falkland Islands Conservation Zone) until adult life-history stages. The movement patterns described for the adult component of the stock are providing important contributions to our understanding of the linkages between these mixed contingents and the southern spawning areas. Considering the currently available information, for the purpose of stock assessment we assume that there is one discrete toothfish stock present in Falkland Islands waters.

Data programmes initiated and used in the current studies are all relatively short (2015 to 2021), for the acquisition of data and identification of patterns for a long-lived species with well over a 30-year history of exploitation. Nonetheless, the results of this research contribute meaningfully to management through improved confidence in and transparency of the advice. Further, this research provided an important platform for the enhancement and extension of current monitoring programmes through key collaborations, and the development of future research priorities to inform management objectives.

References

- Abbott JK, Haynie AC (2012) What are we protecting? Fisher behavior and the unintended consequences of spatial closures as a fishery management tool. Ecol Appl 22:762–777.
- Abrantes JP, Reygondeau G, Wabnitz CCC, Cheung WWL (2020) The transboundary nature of the world's exploited marine species. Sci Rep 10:17668.
- Agnew DJ (2002) Critical aspects of the Falkland Islands pelagic ecosystem: distribution, spawning and migration of pelagic animals in relation to oil exploration. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshw Ecosyst 12:39–50.
- Agnew DJ, Moir Clark J, McCarthy PA, Unwin M, Ward M, Jones L, Breedt G, Du Plessis S, Van Heerdon J, Moreno G (2006) A study of Patagonian toothfish (*Dissostichus eleginoides*) post-tagging survivorship in Subarea 48.3. CCAMLR Sci 13:279–289.
- Arana P (2009) Reproductive aspects of the Patagonian toothfish (*Dissostichus eleginoides*) off southern Chile. Lat Am J Aquat Res 37:381–394.
- Arkhipkin A, Brickle P, Laptikhovsky V (2013) Links between marine fauna and oceanic fronts on the Patagonian Shelf and Slope. Arquipel - Life Mar Sci 30:19–37.
- Arkhipkin A, Brickle P, Laptikhovsky V (2003) Variation in the diet of the Patagonian toothfish with size, depth and season around the Falkland Islands. J Fish Biol 63:428–441.
- Arkhipkin AI, Laptikhovsky V V. (2010) Convergence in life-history traits in migratory deepwater squid and fish. ICES J Mar Sci 67:1444–1451.
- Arkhipkin AI, McKeown NJ, Brickle P, Lee B, Shaw PW (2022) Taxonomic re-appraisal for toothfish (*Dissostichus*: Notothenioidea) across the Antarctic Polar Front using genomic and morphological studies. J Fish Biol:1–13.
- Ashford J, Jones C (2007) Oxygen and carbon stable isotopes in otoliths record spatial isolation of Patagonian toothfish (*Dissostichus eleginoides*). Geochim Cosmochim Acta 71:87–94.
- Ashford JR, Arkhipkin AI, Jones CM (2006) Can the chemistry of otolith nuclei determine population structure of Patagonian toothfish *Dissostichus eleginoides*? J Fish Biol 69:708–721.
- Ashford JR, Fach BA, Arkhipkin AI, Jones CM (2012) Testing early life connectivity supplying a marine fishery around the Falkland Islands. Fish Res 121–122:144–152.
- Ashford JR, Jones CM, Hofmann E, Everson I, Moreno C, Duhamel G, Williams R (2005) Can otolith elemental signatures record the capture site of Patagonian toothfish (*Dissostichus eleginoides*), a fully marine fish in the Southern Ocean? Can J Fish Aquat Sci 62:2832–2840.
- Baranov TI (1918) On the question of the biological basis of fisheries. Nauchnyi Issledovatelskii Ikhtiologicheskii Institut Isvestia 1 (1): 81--128. Reports from Div Fish Manag Sci Study Fish Ind Transl by WE Ricker, 1945 Mimeogr.
- Beebee T, Rowe G (2008) An Introduction to Molecular Ecology, 2nd ed. Oxford University Press, New York, USA.
- Begg GA, Friedland KD, Pearce JB (1999) Stock identification and its role in stock assessment and fisheries management : an overview. Fish Res 43:1–8.
- Berger AM, Deroba JJ, Bosley KM, Goethel DR, Langseth BJ, Schueller AM, Hanselman DH (2021) Incoherent dimensionality in fisheries management : consequences of misaligned stock assessment and population boundaries. ICES J Mar Sci 78:155–171.
- Boucher EM (2018) Disentangling reproductive biology of the Patagonian toothfish *Dissostichus eleginoides*: skipped vs obligatory annual spawning, foraging migration vs residential life style. Environ Biol Fishes 101:1343–1356.
- Brophy D, Haynes P, Arrizabalaga H, Fraile I, Fromentin JM, Garibaldi F, Katavic I, Tinti F, Saadet Karakulak F, Macías D, Busawon D, Hanke A, Kimoto A, Sakai O, Deguara S, Abid N, Santos MN (2016) Otolith shape variation provides a marker of stock origin for north Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*). Mar Freshw Res 67:1023–1036.
- Brown J, Brickle P, Scott BE (2013a) Investigating the movements and behaviour of Patagonian toothfish (*Dissostichus eleginoides* Smitt, 1898) around the Falkland Islands

using satellite linked archival tags. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 443:65-74.

- Brown J, Brickle P, Scott BE (2013b) The parasite fauna of the Patagonian toothfish *Dissostichus eleginoides* off the Falkland Islands. J Helminthol 87:501–509.
- Cadrin SX (2020) Defining spatial structure for fishery stock assessment. Fish Res 221:105397.
- Cadrin SX, Maunder MN, Punt AE (2020) Spatial Structure: Theory, estimation and application in stock assessment models. Fish Res 229.
- Campana SE, Stefánsdóttir RB, Jakobsdóttir K, Sólmundsson J (2020) Shifting fish distributions in warming sub-Arctic oceans. Sci Rep 10:1–14.
- Canales-Aguirre CB, Ferrada-Fuentes S, Galleguillos R, Oyarzun FX, Hernandez CE (2018) Population genetic structure of Patagonian toothfish (Dissostichus eleginoides) in the Southeast Pacific and Southwest Atlantic Ocean. PeerJ 6:e4173.
- Ciannelli L, Fisher JAD, Skern-Mauritzen M, Hunsicker ME, Hidalgo M, Frank KT, Bailey KM (2013) Theory, consequences and evidence of eroding population spatial structure in harvested marine fishes: A review. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 480:227–243.
- Clausen LAW, Bekkevold D, Hatfield EMC, Mosegaard H (2007) Application and validation of otolith microstructure as a stock identification method in mixed Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*) stocks in the North Sea and western Baltic. ICES J Mar Sci 64:377–385.
- Collins MA, Brickle P, Brown J, Belchier M (2010) The Patagonian Toothfish. Biology, Ecology and Fishery. Adv Mar Biol 58:227–300.
- Cope JM, Punt AE (2011) Reconciling stock assessment and management scales under conditions of spatially varying catch histories. Fish Res 107:22–38.
- Crowder LB, Lyman SJ, Figueira WF, Priddy J (2000) Source-sink population dynamics and the problem of siting marine reserves. Bull Mar Sci 66:799–820.
- Croxall JP, Wood AG (2002) The importance of the Patagonian Shelf for top predator species breeding at South Georgia. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshw Ecosyst 118:101–118.
- Dickey-Collas M, Nash RDM, Brunel T, Van Damme CJG, Marshall CT, Payne MR, Corten A, Geffen AJ, Peck MA, Hatfield EMC, Hintzen NT, Enberg K, Kell LT, Simmonds EJ (2010) Lessons learned from stock collapse and recovery of North Sea herring: A review. ICES J Mar Sci 67:1875–1886.
- Eastman JT (1993) Antarctic fish biology: evolution in a unique environment. Academic Press, San Diego, California.
- Evseenko SA, Kock KH, M NM (1995) Early life history of the Patagonian toothfish, *Dissostichus eleginoides* Smitt, 1898 in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. Antarct Sci 7:221–226.
- Franco BC, Defeo O, Piola AR, Barreiro M, Yang H, Ortega L, Gianelli I, Castello JP, Vera C, Buratti C, Pájaro M, Pezzi LP, Möller OO (2020) Climate change impacts on the atmospheric circulation, ocean, and fisheries in the southwest South Atlantic Ocean: a review. Clim Change 162:2359–2377.
- Fraser CI, Kay GM, Plessis M, Ryan PG (2017) Breaking down the barrier: dispersal across the Antarctic Polar Front. Ecography (Cop) 40:235–237.
- Fronhofer EA, Kubisch A, Hilker FM, Hovestadt T, Poethke HJ (2012) Why are metapopulations so rare? Ecology 93:1967–1978.
- Godelman E, Brunetti E, Palacios M, Lugo A, Cornejo A (2021) Preevaluaction de la Pesqueria de Merluza Negra (*Dissostichus eleginoides*) con Redes de Arrastre de Fondo por Buques del la Flota Congeladora de Bandera Argentina.
- Gras M, Randhawa HS, Blake A, Busbridge T, Chemshirova I, Guest A (2018) Report of the 2018 ground fish survey ZDLM3–02–2018. Stanley, Falkland Islands Government, Fisheries department.
- Gullestad P, Sundby S (2020) Management of transboundary and straddling fish stocks in the Northeast Atlantic in view of climate-induced shifts in spatial distribution. Fish Fish 21:1008–1026.
- Hare JA, Richardson DE (2014) The Use of Early Life Stages in Stock Identification Studies. In: *Stock Identification Methods: Applications in Fishery Science*, 2nd ed. Cadrin S, Kerr L, Mariani S (eds) Academic Press, London, p 566

- Hawkins SJ, Bohn K, Sims DW, Ribeiro P, Faria J, Presa P, Pita A, Martins GM, Neto AI, Burrows MT, Genner MJ (2016) Fisheries stocks from an ecological perspective: Disentangling ecological connectivity from genetic interchange. Fish Res 179:333–341.
- Henriquez V, Licandeo R, Cubillos LA, Cox SP (2016) Interactions between ageing error and selectivity in statistical catch-at-age models: simulations and implications for assessment of the Chilean Patagonian toothfish fishery. ICES J Mar Sci 73:1074–1090.
- Hilborn R, Quinn TP, Schindler DE, Rogers DE (2003) Biocomplexity and fisheries sustainability. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:6564–6568.
- Hutchings JA (1996) Spatial and temporal variation in the density of northern cod and a review of hypotheses for the stock's collapse. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 53:943–962.
- Izzo C, Ward TM, Ivey AR, Suthers IM, Stewart J, Sexton SC, Gillanders BM (2017) Integrated approach to determining stock structure: implications for fisheries management of sardine, *Sardinops sagax*, in Australian waters. Rev Fish Biol Fish 27:267–284.
- Janßen H, Bastardie F, Eero M, Hamon KG, Hinrichsen HH, Marchal P, Nielsen JR, Le Pape O, Schulze T, Simons S, Teal LR, Tidd A (2018) Integration of fisheries into marine spatial planning: Quo vadis? Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 201:105–113.
- Kerr LA, Hintzen NT, Cadrin SX, Clausen LW, Dickey-Collas M, Goethel DR, Hatfield EMC, Kritzer JP, Nash RDM (2017) Lessons learned from practical approaches to reconcile mismatches between biological population structure and stock units of marine fish. ICES J Mar Sci 74:1708–1722.
- Kerr LA, Whitener ZT, Cadrin SX, Morse MR, Secor DH, Golet W (2020) Mixed stock origin of Atlantic bluefin tuna in the U.S. rod and reel fishery (Gulf of Maine) and implications for fisheries management. Fish Res 224:105461.
- Laptikhovsky V, Arkhipkin A, Brickle P (2006) Distribution and reproduction of the Patagonian toothfish Dissostichus eleginoides Smitt around the Falkland Islands. J Fish Biol 68:849–861.
- Lee B, Arkhipkin A, Randhawa HS (2021) Environmental drivers of Patagonian toothfish (*Dissostichus eleginoides*) spatial-temporal patterns during an ontogenetic migration on the Patagonian Shelf. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 259:107473.
- Lee B, Brewin PE, Brickle P, Randhawa H (2018) Use of otolith shape to inform stock structure in Patagonian toothfish (*Dissostichus eleginoides*) in the south-western Atlantic. Mar Freshw Res 69:1238–1247.
- Lee B, Cockroft K, Arkhipkin AI, Wing SR, Randhawa HS (2019a) Age, growth and mortality estimates for the ridge-scaled grenadier *Macrourus carinatus* (Günther, 1878) in the south-western Atlantic. Fish Res 218:174–185.
- Lee B, Goyot L, Castillejos JER, Hall J, Zawadowski T (2019b) Research Cruise Report: ZDLT1-12-2018. Patagonian toothfish - juvenile survey. Falkland Islands Government, Fisheries Department, Stanley.
- Lee B, Skeljo F, Randhawa HS, Arkhipkin A (2022) Deep-sea movement patterns of the Patagonian toothfish Dissostichus eleginoides Smitt in the Southwest Atlantic. Mar Freshw Res:1–13.
- Lee B, Skeljo F, Randhawa HS, Brownscombe W, Arkhipkin A (2023) Early-life history patterns in Patagonian toothfish (Dissostichus eleginoides) from the Patagonian Shelf. Manuscr Under Rev.
- Link JS (2010) Ecosystem-Based Fisheries Management: confronting tradeoffs. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Marlow TR, Agnew DJ, Purves MG, Everson I (2003) Movement and growth of tagged *Dissostichus eleginoides* around South Georgia and Shag Rocks (Subarea 48.3). CCAMLR Sci 10:101–111.
- Matano RP, Palma ED, Combes V (2019) The Burdwood Bank Circulation. J Geophys Res Ocean 124:6904–6926.
- Moore BR, Bell JD, Evans K, Farley J, Grewe PM, Hampton J, Marie AD, Minte-Vera C, Nicol S, Pilling GM, Scutt Phillips J, Tremblay-Boyer L, Williams AJ, Smith N (2020) Defining the stock structures of key commercial tunas in the Pacific Ocean I: Current knowledge and main uncertainties. Fish Res 230:105525.

- Moreno CA, Arata JA, Rubilar P, Hucke-Gaete R, Robertson G (2006) Artisanal longline fisheries in Southern Chile: Lessons to be learned to avoid incidental seabird mortality. Biol Conserv 127:27–36.
- Mori M, Corney SP, Melbourne-Thomas J, Welsford DC, Klocker A, Ziegler PE (2016) Using satellite altimetry to inform hypotheses of transport of early life stage of Patagonian toothfish on the Kerguelen Plateau. Ecol Modell 340:45–56.
- Mormede S, Parker SJ, Pinkerton MH (2020) Comparing spatial distribution modelling of fisheries data with single-area or spatially-explicit integrated population models, a case study of toothfish in the Ross Sea region. Fish Res 221:105381.
- Mujica A, Peñailillo D, Reyes A, Nava ML (2016) Embryonic and larval development of *Dissostichus eleginoides* (Pisces: Nototheniidae). Rev Biol Mar Oceanogr 51:675–680.
- North AW (2002) Larval and juvenile distribution and growth of Patagonian toothfish around South Georgia. Antarct Sci 14:25–31.
- Park KJ, Choi S, An D (2021) Distribution of Fishing Grounds of Korean Bottom Longline and Annual Change of CPUE of the Patagonian Toothfish *Dissostichus eleginoides* in South West Atlantic. Korean J Aquat Sci 54:129–134.
- Péron C, Welsford DC, Ziegler P, Lamb TD, Gasco N, Chazeau C, Sinègre R, Duhamel G (2016) Modelling spatial distribution of Patagonian toothfish through life-stages and sex and its implications for the fishery on the Kerguelen Plateau. Prog Oceanogr 141:81–95.
- Pitcher CR, Ellis N, Jennings S, Hiddink JG, Mazor T, Kaiser MJ, Kangas MI, McConnaughey RA, Parma AM, Rijnsdorp AD, Suuronen P, Collie JS, Amoroso R, Hughes KM, Hilborn R (2017) Estimating the sustainability of towed fishing-gear impacts on seabed habitats: a simple quantitative risk assessment method applicable to data-limited fisheries. Methods Ecol Evol 8:472–480.
- Pompert J, Lee B, Blake A, Jones J, Zawadowski T (2015) Scientific Report, Fisheries Cruise ZDLT1-11-2015. Technical Report. Falkland Islands Government, Fisheries Department, Stanley.
- Punt AE, Donovan GP (2007) Developing management procedures that are robust to uncertainty: Lessons from the International Whaling Commission. ICES J Mar Sci 64:603–612.
- Roberts J, Agnew DA (2008) Proposal for an extension to the mark recapture experiment to estimate toothfish populaiton size in Subarea 48.4. CCAMLR WG-FSA:08/46.
- Rogers AD, Morley S, Fitzcharles E, Jarvis K, Belchier M (2006) Genetic structure of Patagonian toothfish (*Dissostichus eleginoides*) populations on the Patagonian shelf and Atlantic and western Indian Ocean Sectors of the Southern Ocean. Mar Biol 149:915–924.
- Russell ES (1931) Some theoretical considerations on the overfishing problem. ICES J Mar Sci 6:3–20.
- Schindler DE, Hilborn R, Chasco B, Boatright CP, Quinn TP, Rogers LA, Webster MS (2010) Population diversity and the portfolio effect in an exploited species. Nature 465:609–612.
- Shaw PW, Arkhipkin AI, Al-Khairulla H (2004) Genetic structuring of Patagonian toothfish populations in the Southwest Atlantic Ocean: The effect of the Antarctic Polar Front and deep-water troughs as barriers to genetic exchange. Mol Ecol 13:3293–3303.
- Sinclair M, Iles TD (1989) Population regulation and speciation in the oceans. ICES J Mar Sci 45:165–175.
- Skeljo F (2023) Patagonian toothfish (*Dissostichus eleginoides*) bycatch in the calamari trawl fishery (2012 2021). Fisheries Report BY-2023-TOO. Fisheries Department, Directorate of Natural Resources, Falkland Islands Government, Stanley, Falkland Islands.
- Skeljo F, Lee B, Winter A (2022) 2021 Stock Assessment Report: Patagonian toothfish (Dissostichus eleginoides). Fisheries Report SA-2021-TOO. Stanley, Falkland Islands Government, Fisheries department.
- Smedbol RK, Stephenson R (2001) The importance of managing within-species diversity in cod and herring fisheries of the north-western Atlantic. J Fish Biol 59:109–128.
- Smith P, McVeagh M (2000) Allozyme and microsatellite DNA markers of toothfish population structure in the Southern Ocean. J Fish Biol 57:72–83.

- Song H, Marshall J, Follows MJ, Dutkiewicz S, Forget G (2016) Source waters for the highly productive Patagonian shelf in the southwestern Atlantic. J Mar Syst 158:120–128.
- Tuck GN, Possingham HP (1994) Optimal harvesting strategies for a metapopulation. Bull Math Biol 56:107–127.
- Ulibarrena J, Conzonno VH (2015) Mechanisms involved in the proliferation and distribution of phytoplankton in the Patagonian Sea, Argentina, as revealed by remote sensing studies. Environ Earth Sci 74:439–449.
- Waples RS (1998) Separating the wheat from the chaff: Patterns of genetic differentiation in high gene flow species. J Hered 89:438–450.
- Williams R, Tuck GN, Constable AJ, Lamb T (2002) Movement, growth and available abundance to the fishery of *Dissostichus eleginoides* SMITT, 1898 at Heard Island, derived from tagging experiments. CCAMLR Sci 9:33–48.
- Yates P, Ziegler P, Welsford D, McIvor J, Farmer B, Woodcock E (2018) Spatio-temporal dynamics in maturation and spawning of Patagonian toothfish *Dissostichus eleginoides* on the sub-Antarctic Kerguelen Plateau. J Fish Biol 92:34–54.
- Ying Y, Chen Y, Lin L, Gao T (2011) Risks of ignoring fish population spatial structure in fisheries management. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 68:2101–2120.
- Zemeckis DR, Martins D, Kerr LA, Cadrin SX (2014) Stock identification of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) in US waters: an interdisciplinary approach. ICES J Mar Sci 71:1490–1506.